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GENERAL INFORMATION
IN THE CIRCUIT OF BUTLER COUNTY, ALABAMA

First Plaintiff:

SHORELINE TRANSPORTATION OF ALABAMA USA, INC. v. PILOT CORPORATION ET AL

Business
Government

Individual
Other

BusinessFirst Defendant:
Government

Individual
Other

NATURE OF SUIT:

TORTS: PERSONAL INJURY

WDEA - Wrongful Death
TONG - Negligence: General
TOMV - Negligence: Motor Vehicle

TOMM - Malpractice-Medical
TOPL - Product Liability/AEMLD
TOWA - Wantonnes

TOLM - Malpractice-Legal
TOOM - Malpractice-Other
TBFM - Fraud/Bad Faith/Misrepresentation
TOXX - Other:

TORTS: PERSONAL INJURY

TOPE - Personal Property
TORE - Real Property

OTHER CIVIL FILINGS

ABAN - Abandoned Automobile
ACCT - Account & Nonmortgage
APAA - Administrative Agency Appeal
ADPA - Administrative Procedure Act
ANPS - Adults in Need of Protective Services

OTHER CIVIL FILINGS  (cont'd)

MSXX -

CVRT - Civil Rights
COND - Condemnation/Eminent Domain/Right-of-Way
CTMP-Contempt of Court
CONT-Contract/Ejectment/Writ of Seizure

Birth/Death Certificate Modification/Bond Forfeiture
Appeal/Enforcement of Agency Subpoena/Petition to
Preserve

TOCN - Conversion
EQND- Equity Non-Damages Actions/Declaratory

Judgment/Injunction Election Contest/Quiet Title/Sale For
Division

CVUD-Eviction Appeal/Unlawfyul Detainer
FORJ-Foreign Judgment
FORF-Fruits of Crime Forfeiture
MSHC-Habeas Corpus/Extraordinary Writ/Mandamus/Prohibition
PFAB-Protection From Abuse
FELA-Railroad/Seaman (FELA)
RPRO-Real Property
WTEG-Will/Trust/Estate/Guardianship/Conservatorship
COMP-Workers' Compensation
CVXX-Miscellaneous Circuit Civil Case

ORIGIN: F

R

A

T

INITIAL FILING

REMANDED

APPEAL FROM
DISTRICT COURT

TRANSFERRED FROM
OTHER CIRCUIT COURT

O OTHER

HAS JURY TRIAL BEEN DEMANDED? Yes No

RELIEF REQUESTED: MONETARY AWARD REQUESTED NO MONETARY AWARD REQUESTED

MEDIATION REQUESTED: Yes No Undecided
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BUTLER COUNTY, ALABAMA

SHORELINE TRANSPORTATION OF )
ALABAMA USA, INC., )

)
Plaintiff, )

)
vs. )     Civil Action No._________________

)
PILOT CORPORATION; PILOT OIL )
CORPORATION; PILOT TRAVEL )
CENTERS, LLC, d/b/a PILOT FLYING )
JAY, )

)
Defendants. )

COMPLAINT

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, Shoreline Transportation of Alabama USA, Inc.,

(“Shoreline Transportation”), and for their Complaint against Defendants, Pilot Corporation,

Pilot Oil Corporation and Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, d/b/a Pilot Flying Jay, (“Defendants”),

avers as follows:

PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

1. Plaintiff, Shoreline Transportation of Alabama USA, Inc., is an Alabama 

corporation with its principle place of business in Greenville, Butler County, Alabama. 

2. Defendant, Pilot Corporation is a Tennessee Corporation with its principle 

place of business in Knoxville, Knox County, Tennessee.

3. Defendant, Pilot Oil Corporation is a Tennessee Corporation with its principle 

place of business in Knoxville, Knox County, Tennessee.
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4. Defendant, Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, d/b/a Pilot Flying Jay, is a Delaware 

Corporation with its principle place of business in Knoxville, Knox County, Tennessee.

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the parties to this cause and the

amount in controversy exceeds $10,000.00.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

6. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

7. Plaintiff Shoreline Transportation of Alabama USA, Inc. (hereinafter referred

to as “Shoreline Transportation”) has been a customer of Defendants since before 2007.

8. Shoreline Transportation had an Agreement (“Rebate Program”) with the

Defendants for the purchase of gasoline from stores owned or operated by the Defendants. 

This Agreement was based on the Defendants’ promise to provide certain rebates to

Shoreline Transportation based at least in part on the price of oil to the Defendants, with said

rebates to be paid on a periodic basis.  

9. Based on the Rebate Program, the Plaintiff agreed to do business with the

Defendants at their various locations. 

10. The Defendants negligently, wantonly, or intentionally understated the amount

due under the Rebate Program and paid Shoreline Transportation less than it was owed under

the Rebate Program on a regular basis.
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11. Unbeknownst to the Plaintiff, the Defendants’ executives, directors, principles,

sales agents, and administrative staff conspired to manually and arbitrarily reduce the amount

of payments made under the Rebate Program to Shoreline Transportation in an effort to

increase the profits made by the Defendants and the sales commissions made by its agents,

without the consent or knowledge of Shoreline Transportation, and in clear violation of the

Rebate Program. 

12. On April 18, 2013 the Affidavit of F.B.I. Special Agent Robert Root, which

was filed in support of a search warrant application, was unsealed by the U.S. District Court

for the Eastern District of Tennessee at Knoxville. (Affidavit of Agent Robert Root, attached

hereto as Exhibit “A”).

13. Among other things, the Affidavit of Robert Root makes clear that the

Defendants engaged in mail fraud and wire fraud on numerous occasions through

underpayments made under the Rebate Program to numerous companies throughout the

United States.  Specifically, Agent Root’s Affidavit contains the following statements:

“I have been assigned to an investigation of employees of Pilot Corporation,
Pilot Travel Centers, LLC and Pilot Flying Jay (hereinafter “Pilot”), which is
again defined below, for devising and conspiring to devise a scheme to defraud
by use of the mail and the transmission of wire communication in interstate
commerce in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§371 (conspiracy), 1341 (mail fraud),
1343 (wire fraud), and 1349 (conspiracy)...”

. . .

“arising from a conspiracy and scheme to defraud executed by various Pilot
employees to deceptively withhold diesel fuel rebates and discounts from Pilot
customers without the knowledge or approval of the customer, for the duel
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purposes of increasing the profitability of Pilot and increasing the diesel sales
commissions of the Pilot employees participating in the fraud”

. . .

“intentional and deceptive reduction of a diesel discount agreement with the
customer without the customer’s knowledge or approval, for the purpose of
increasing Pilot’s profitability and the sales commissions of the Pilot
employees.”  (Exhibit A).  

14. The Defendants had agreed to provide rebates on diesel fuel purchased at their

various truck care facilities and travel centers throughout the country pursuant to the terms

of the Rebate Program.

15. Shoreline Transportation was to receive the rebate amount either via check or

direct deposit.

16. Over the course of an investigation begun in May of 2011, the Federal Bureau

of Investigation determined that the Defendants’ employees intentionally defrauded many

of its customers, including Shoreline Transportation, by deliberately charging a higher price

for fuel than the contractually agreed to price, and then concealing the fact and nature of this

fraud from companies like Shoreline Transportation.

17. Recordings taken during the course of the Federal Government’s investigation

reveal that the Defendants maintained spreadsheets showing the amount actually owed to

customers under their Rebate Program versus the amount the customers were actually paid. 

18. The policy of arbitrarily reducing the amounts owed to Shoreline

Transportation and other customers under the Rebate Program was shared with sales
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representatives of the Defendants at seminars wherein the Defendants advised its

representatives to commit fraud by sending customers like Shoreline Transportation less than

they were owed under the Rebate Program.

19. The recordings taken by the Federal Bureau of Investigation make it clear that

this fraud was perpetrated with the consent and awareness of Pilot executives, including

Chief Executive Officer James A. “Jimmy” Haslam, III, President Mark Hazelwood and

Chief Financial Officer Mitch Steenrod.

20. The Defendants also took steps to conceal their activities from Shoreline

Transportation and law enforcement officials. 

21. Because of the actions of Defendants, Shoreline Transportation has suffered

damages compensable under the laws of the State of Alabama and the laws of the United

States. 

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I Conversion
22. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

23. The Defendants wrongfully converted rebate funds due Shoreline

Transportation to their own use, as set forth more fully in the Affidavit attached hereto as

Exhibit “A.”

24. Shoreline Transportation is entitled to payment of the funds withheld by the
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Defendants in breach of their Agreement with Shoreline Transportation.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT IIViolation of the Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(RICO) (18 U.S.C. § 1961-1968)

25. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

26. The Defendants’ conduct violates 18 U.S.C. §1961 et seq. (“the Act”) in that

the Defendants have engaged in racketeering activity, including but not limited to violating

18 U.S.C. § 1343 by committing fraud by wire and 18 U.S.C. §1341, by engaging in fraud

through the U.S. Mail.  The Defendants have also committed other predicate acts identified

as racketeering activity under the Act. 

27. These Defendants have committed the same predicate acts against not just the

Plaintiffs in this case, but several other similarly situated companies over the years. 

28. This constitutes racketeering activity and is in clear violation of the

Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act.  Pursuant to the Act, the Plaintiff

is entitled to recover treble damages and costs, including attorneys’ fees.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including
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punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT IIIConspiracy to Commit Racketeering Activity
(Conspiracy to Commit RICO)(18 U.S.C. § 1962(d))

29. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

30. The Defendants’ conduct constitutes a conspiracy to violate the provisions of

the Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

31. Under the holding in Salinas v. United States, 118 S. Ct. 469, (December 2,

1997) no predicate act is required to prove conspiracy to violate the Racketeering Influenced

and Corrupt Organizations Act.  Under the Act the Plaintiff is entitled to recover treble

damages and costs, including attorneys’ fees.

32. The Defendants have conspired to commit mail and wire fraud, along with

other racketeering activity, and are therefore liable to the Plaintiffs for all damages

recoverable under the Act.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT IVBreach of Contract
29. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.
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30. The Defendants entered into the Rebate Program with Shoreline Transportation

to provide rebates based on the amount and cost of fuel purchased from the Defendants.

31. Shoreline Transportation purchased diesel fuel from the Defendants, as

opposed to other competitors, in reliance on the Rebate Program. 

32. The Defendants failed to perform their obligations under the Rebate Program

by withholding certain rebates owed to the Plaintiff.

33. The Defendants breached their duties under the contract by failing to provide

the rebates owed under the Rebate Program.

34. Shoreline Transportation has suffered economic loss as a result of the

Defendants’ wrongful conduct.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT VFraud
35. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

36. The Defendants misrepresented material facts particular to the rebates to be

paid to the Plaintiff in exchange for the Plaintiff’s agreement to purchase fuel from the

Defendants.  

37. The Plaintiff relied on these misrepresentations to their detriment by
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purchasing fuel from the Defendants, as opposed to any of its competitors.

38. As a result of this fraud, Shoreline Transportation has suffered damages.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT VISuppression
39. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.

40. The Defendants failed to inform Shoreline Transportation that they were not

going to, and did not abide by the promises made in relation to the Rebate Program.

41. This suppression caused the Plaintiff to continue to do business with the

Defendants, not realizing the Defendants were not living up to their promises.

42. The Plaintiff were damaged as a result of the suppression of the Defendants.

WHEREFORE, premises considered, the Plaintiff seeks recovery of all damages

available under Alabama and Federal law for the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, including

punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT VIITrebel Damages and Attorneys’ Fees
43. Plaintiff adopts and re-alleges all prior paragraphs of this Complaint as if set

forth fully herein.
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44. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) Shoreline Transportation is due “threefold the

damages (they) sustained and the cost of the suit, including a reasonable attorney fee.”

WHEREFORE, premises considered, Shoreline Transportation demands that any

damages awarded by a jury in this case be tripled and all cost, including attorneys’ fees, be

awarded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). 

A JURY TRIAL IS REQUESTED AS TO ALL
ISSUES SO TRIABLE TO A JURY IN THIS CASE

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ J. Michael Bowling                                      

Jeff Friedman (FRI018)
J. Michael Bowling (BOW 046)
Matt Conn (CON062)
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

OF COUNSEL:
FRIEDMAN, DAZZIO, ZULANAS
& BOWLING, P.C.
Post Office Box 43219
Birmingham, Alabama 35243-3219
Phone:  (205) 278-7000
Fax: (205) 278-7001  
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PLEASE SERVE DEFENDANTS BY CERTIFIED MAIL AT:

Pilot Corporation
c/o C T Corporation System
800 S Gay Street, Suite 2021
Knoxville, TN 37929

Pilot Oil Corporation
c/o C T Corporation System
800 S Gay Street, Suite 2021
Knoxville, TN 37929

Pilot Travel Centers, LLC, d/b/a Pilot Flying Jay
c/o C T Corporation System
800 S Gay Street, Suite 2021
Knoxville, TN 37929
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